2007

Jeffrey R. Gittins v. Smithfiled City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(b)(i) and/or (2)(j), Utah Code.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

First Issue: Was the declaratory judgment a final order from which an appeal may be taken as a matter of right?

The issue of finality of a judgment is not one of review, but rather a threshold question of jurisdiction. *In re Estate of Morrison*, 933 P.2d 1015, 1016 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Second Issue: Did the trial court err in ruling that Smithfield City's rezone decision of February 8, 2006 was not illegal?

The standard of appellate review is for correctness. Land use decisions of a municipality are presumed valid. § 10-9a-801(3)(a)(1), Utah Code. The same standards that apply to a district court for review of a municipal land use decision also apply to appellate review of the district court's decision. *Gardner v. Perry City*, 2000 UT App 1, ¶¶ 7-8, 994 P.2d 811.

This issue was preserved in the trial court in the Petitioner's Memorandum Opposing Smithfield City's Motion for Summary Judgment, R 562-68, and in the incorporated memoranda supporting Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment. R 454-59, 540-44.

Third Issue: Did the trial court err in stating that Appellant was not prejudiced by the City's action?

The standard of appellate review is as follows:

“Summary judgment is appropriate only when there are no genuine issues of fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville*, 979 P.2d 332, 336 (Utah 1999) (citing Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c)). “We review the district court's grant of summary judgment for correctness, according no deference to the court's legal conclusions, and accept the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party.” *Macris & Assoc., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.*, 986 P.2d 748, 750 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) (citations and internal quotations omitted).

Gardner v. Perry City, 2000 UT App 1, ¶7, 994 P.2d 811.

This issue was preserved in the trial court in the Petitioner's Memorandum Opposing Smithfield City's Motion for Summary Judgment R 564-65.

STATEMENT OF DETERMINATIVE LAWS

Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides in pertinent part:

Filing Appeal From Final Orders and Judgments: An appeal may be taken from a district or juvenile court to the appellate court with jurisdiction over the appeal from all final orders and judgments, except as otherwise provided by law, by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the trial court within the time allowed by Rule 4. . . .

§ 10-9a-801(3), Utah Code provides:

(a) The Courts shall:

(i) presume that a decision, ordinance, or regulation made under the authority of this chapter is valid; and

(ii) determine only whether or not the decision, ordinance, or regulation is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal.

(b) A decision, ordinance, or regulation involving the exercise of legislative discretion is valid if the decision, ordinance, or regulation is reasonably debatable and not illegal.

(c) A final decision of a land use authority or an appeal authority is valid if the decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record and is not arbitrary, capricious, or illegal.

(d) A determination of illegality requires a determination that the decision, ordinance, or regulation violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made or the ordinance or regulation adopted.

§ 2.08.030, Smithfield Municipal Code (“SMC”) provided at all relevant times:

Rules of Procedure: Except as otherwise specifically required or provided by law, this chapter, or by resolution of the governing body, the most current edition of “Robert’s Rules of Order” shall govern the procedure and conduct of the meetings of the governing body.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant (“Gittins”) challenged in the district court a rezoning decision of Smithfield City (“the City”) made on February 8, 2006 on grounds of procedural illegality. R 9-12. The district court, Judge Gordon J. Low presiding, denied Gittins’ motion for summary judgment and granted the City’s cross motion for summary judgment, ruling that the rezone was not illegal. R 599-601. The court also stated that Gittins was not prejudiced by the City’s action. R 600. It is from the decision granting the City a declaratory judgment that Gittins appeals.

Before the trial court considered summary judgment, it denied the City’s earlier motion to dismiss, but stated that it would award the City attorney’s fees on the filing of an affidavit. R 534. The attorney’s fee affidavit was not filed until after the signing of the declaratory judgment, R 606, and the filing of the notice of appeal. R 602.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Following is a statement of the facts relevant to the issues presented for review. These are drawn primarily from the statement of facts presented by Gittins in support of his motion for summary judgment.¹ Abbreviations and defined terms used below are consistent with those used in the previous statement of facts.²

In December of 2005, two parties (“the Developers”) applied to the City (“the Application”) for a rezone of approximately 25 acres from residential/agricultural and agricultural zones to a residential zone (single-family lots with minimum 12,000 sq. ft). F 29. Gittins owns and operates a dairy near the proposed development. F 44-45, 96, 165. After notice and a public hearing, P&Z recommended denial of the Application. F 46.

The City’s zoning ordinance (“ZOS”), § 17.08.040, includes the following requirements for a rezone:

¹ The statement contained 165 separate facts, none of which were contested. A copy of the statement is included in the addendum to this Brief. As used in this Brief, “F ___” refers to the enumerated fact(s) contained in the statement.

² “Board/AA” is the City’s Board of Adjustment / Appeal Authority
“Chair” means the chairperson of the Board/AA, Robert Buckley
“Council” means the City’s Council; its governing body.
“Manager” means the City’s manager, James P. Gass (unelected);
“Mayor” means the City’s mayor, Chad E. Downs (elected);
“Council Member” means a member of the (elected) Council, including Brent Butters, Deon G. Hunsaker, Kris Monson, Dennis Watkins, and Dee Wood;
“P&Z” means the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission; and
“Staff” means and includes unelected City employees and officers.

The ordinance codified in this title, including the maps, may be amended from time to time by the Smithfield city council after fifteen (15) days' notice and public hearing . . .

F 13. Adequate advance notice was given, and a public hearing on the Application was held by the Council as part of its January 25, 2006 regular meeting. F 54, 56.

After a motion to approve the Application was made and seconded, the following occurred:

Question on the motion:

Council Member Monson asked that a modification be considered. Move the line south. Then Ms. Monson would like to re-open the General Plan and put the balance of that area back in the agricultural zone.

The northern line of the re-zone request be moved south to the point directly in line with the south boundary of the Lundberg, Johnson, Jacobson property on the west side of what would be 600 West. This would eliminate four rows of proposed houses.

Council Member Hunsaker asked about just one egress from the development.

Council Member Wood and Council Member Watkins agreed to the modification.

F 62. This change amounted to a substantial reduction in the size of the rezone.³ After further discussion, the amended motion was unanimously adopted, and the meeting adjourned. F 66, 69.

³ The parties disagree on the size of the reduction. Gittins maintains that boundary, hence size, was ascertainable. The stated property-line boundary is superimposed over a sketch of the Developers' proposed subdivision at R 261, which is reproduced in the Addendum. The area of the amended rezone, by this reckoning, is approximately 10 acres. See F 30-42, 76-85. The City claims the northern boundary of the amended rezone was uncertain. Staff (later) prepared four alternate amended drafts with acreage ranging from 7.46 to 15.51. F 76-85.

At the next regular Council meeting on February 8th, the Application was again on the agenda, exactly as it had been two weeks earlier. F 86-87. A motion “to approve Ordinance 06-01 as requested” was made and seconded. F 100. Council Member Monson failed to persuade the moving Council member to amend, and the motion passed on a vote of four to one. F 101.

Gittins approached the Mayor to air concerns about the procedures followed by which the February 8th decision was reached, and to ask a series of questions about how the Council could possibly have reversed itself in so short a time and without any public discussions or deliberation. F 110. The Mayor told Gittins that it was doubtful that the Council “would revisit the re-rezone question”, and confirmed that view in writing received by Gittins on March 1st. F 110. On that same day, Gittins delivered to the City a handwritten appeal of the February 8th decision to the Board/AA. F 111. In a letter dated March 3rd, the Manager acknowledged Gittins’ visit to the City’s offices, and commented at length on Gittins’ attempt to appeal, concluding that Gittins’ opportunity to appeal, if any, was to the district court, and not to the Board/AA. R 185-86.

On March 10th Gittins petitioned the district court to review the City’s February 8th decision. F 27.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal because the Declaratory Judgment granting the City's entire summary judgment request, is a final judgment within the meaning of Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The tell-tale award of attorney's fees connected with a previously resolved motion does not ruin the finality of the Declaratory Judgment for purposes of an appeal as a matter of right. Applying a pragmatic test to the Declaratory Judgment, this Court should consider the Declaratory Judgment final and appealable because it leaves no clue of a latent attorney's fee issue. Treating the Declaratory Judgment would promote rather than reduce judicial economy.

The City's February 8th decision essentially rezoned property as to which there was no pending rezone application, the previous one having been disposed of at the City's January 25th meeting. Consequently, none of the state-mandated or City-ordained procedures prerequisite to a rezone had been attempted, let alone completed as of February 8th. The City's three interlocking theories on which its application resuscitation efforts depend each crumble under the weight of law, including the City's own procedural ordinances.

Reconsideration of the January 25th decision was prohibited by the City's procedural rules. So the City retroactively unshackled itself from ordained procedures by pretending other unwritten "informal" rules existed by which reconsideration was permitted. Even if the City had previously trashed its own rules (contrary to evidence provided by Gittins), the City's course of action

violated Utah's statutorily-mandated zoning scheme (contained in the Municipal Land Use, Development, and Management Act, §§ 10-9a-101, et seq., Utah Code ["MLUDMA"]), by allowing rezones via reconsideration. Despite these problems with the City's position, the trial court erroneously swallowed whole the City's notion that its (written) rules could be disregarded.

The Council was not at liberty to define or fix where the northern boundary of the rezone lay, beyond the action taken on January 25th. Doing so violated the City's boundary ordinance referring boundary clarification issues immediately and ultimately to the Board/AA. Doing so also ran contrary to MLUDMA in that rezoning by the Council under the guise of boundary clarification could thereby be carried out sans procedural protections mandated by Utah law. Doing so was unnecessary in the first place, because the January 25th decision left no question about the northern boundary that could not be readily answered by resort to the City's boundary ordinance and a look at the plat map. But the veneer of a boundary clarification soon fell away at the February 8th meeting when instead of picking one of the alternative northern boundaries then presented, the Council opted to dump the changeable boundary altogether in favor of the original and entire requested area. The trial court erred in implicitly endorsing this approach.

There was no fatal flaw in the January 25th rezone, and no one challenged it on technical or any other grounds. The absence of a typed metes-and-bounds description in a proposed ordinance on January 25th did not render it "null and void" as masochistically asserted by the City. The City's belated professions of

concern over this issue should be ignored, as the City had the means to avoid the faux pas, and was specifically advised by Gittins to prepare written amendments in advance of the January 25th meeting.

The trial court's stray statement that Gittins was not prejudiced was probably meant as a comment on the effect of the court's upholding of the February 8th decision. A determination that the City's actions were legal makes unnecessary and nonsensical a further analysis about how the City's decision would have been different if legal procedures were followed. Any ruling that Gittins was not prejudiced would be erroneous, especially at the summary judgment stage. There were multiple independent evidentiary reasons why the trial court was precluded from denying Gittins his day in court on the prejudice issue: (a) a revote on the January 25th rezone was precluded by law; (b) the Council voted differently (on January 25th) when the proceedings were free from taint; (c) the City's evidence failed to negate a showing of prejudice; and (d) Gittins requested and should have been allowed the opportunity to "permit affidavits to be . . . opposed by depositions," etc. under Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT IS A FINAL ORDER

Appeals may be filed as a matter of right from “all final orders and judgments.” Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

On its face, the Declaratory Judgment disposes of all of the pending claims and defenses asserted by the parties:

The action by the Defendant, in adopting the Ordinance re-zoning the real property at issue in this action, was not inappropriate, the re-zone Ordinance is valid, and Summary Judgment by way of Declaratory Judgment is hereby granted in favor of the Defendant, Smithfield City.

R 601. Judge Low characterized the action as one for declaratory judgment in which the parties had filed cross motions for summary judgment. R 599. The City’s motion did not include “partial” in the title, nor was there any indication therein that the granting of the motion would do less than dispose of the whole action. R 481-82.

The City denies the Judgment is final because earlier in the case the court awarded attorney’s fees⁴, but the amount was not fixed at the time of the Declaratory Judgment. Notwithstanding the un-liquidated state⁵ of the attorney’s

⁴ The award was a *sua sponte* sanction made for Gittins’ delay in filing a motion for summary judgment, and was granted in process of denying the City’s motion to dismiss. R 534.

⁵ The City filed an attorney’s fee affidavit after Gittins had filed a notice of appeal, along with a proposed order reciting a dollar amount. R 606-14. The district court signed the order. R 613. Gittins requested relief from the order pursuant to Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R 617. That motion is still pending with the district court. R 658.

fees emanating from the prior motion to dismiss, the Declaratory Judgment was still “final” when the notice of appeal was filed.

Prior to the decision in *ProMax Development Corp. v. Raile*, 998 P.2d 254 (Utah 2000), a judgment providing for an award of attorney’s fees could still be considered final even where the fee amount was expressly reserved for later determination. The *ProMax* holding made clear that, for reasons of judicial economy, such judgments become final when the trial court finishes the attorney’s fee exercise.

If the Declaratory Judgment in this case had included the fee award, or expressly reserved the issue, or referred to the earlier award, or repeated the trial court’s solicitation of an attorney’s fee affidavit from the City, there would be no trouble applying *ProMax* and readily concluding the Judgment was not final. Unlike the orders in *ProMax* and its progeny, the Declaratory Judgment contains no expression pointing back to an unresolved attorney’s fee issue.

In analyzing whether a judgment is final, this Court may employ a “pragmatic test” or “case-by-case” approach. See *In re Estate of Morrison*, 933 P.2d 1015, 1016 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). If the latent attorney’s fee award is treated as an unresolved claim, this Court can still take into account the following and determine that the Declaratory Judgment is final and subject to appeal as a matter of right.

The Judgment is devoid of reference to an attorney’s fee award.

The attorney's fee award was made *sua sponte*. Therefore, no motion for an award was ever pending and unresolved.

The attorney's fee award related to the City's overruled motion to dismiss and was a sanction, rather than an award of attorney's fees as part of a determination on the merits.

The trial court solicited, but did not require the City to submit an affidavit, or to take advantage of the award.

The Judgment was prepared by counsel for the City.

Where an otherwise-final judgment makes no reference to a prior award, the City's approach would effectively vest the City with the power to render the judgment final or not, depending on whether (and when) the beneficiary chooses to take advantage of the award.

The goal of judicial economy is the worthy basis for the *ProMax* holding. This goal would be furthered, not harmed, by the pragmatic expectation that interim fee awards such as sanctions, if not reduced to judgment before the order concluding the case on its merits, ought to at least be mentioned therein if finality is to be indefinitely postponed.

II. THE RE-REZONE WAS ILLEGAL

The City's action of February 8th (the "Re-Rezone") is presumptively valid. § 10-9a-801(3)(a)(i), Utah Code. This presumption may be overcome if the Re-Rezone "is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal." Sub(3)(a)(ii). If the Re-Rezone involves "the exercise of legislative discretion" it is still valid if "reasonably debatable" and "not illegal." Sub (3)(b).

A determination of illegality requires a determination that the decision, ordinance, or regulation, violates a law, statute, or ordinance in effect at the time the decision was made or the ordinance or regulation adopted.

Sub (3)(d). Because the Re-Rezone violated an extant "law, statute, or ordinance" it was illegal. The violation need not be gross, nor must the law be "important" in order to render the decision illegal. "Substantial compliance" is not the test. A City must adhere to its own procedural mandates.

While substantial compliance with matters in which a municipality has discretion may indeed suffice, it does not when the municipality itself has legislatively removed any such discretion. . . .

Municipal zoning authorities are bound by the terms and standards of applicable zoning ordinances and are not at liberty to make land use decisions in derogation thereof. . . . Stated simply, the City cannot "change the rules halfway through the game." . . . Because the City did not properly comply with the ordinances . . . we conclude that . . . the City's decision . . . was illegal.

Springville Citizens for a Better Cmty. v. City of Springville, 1999 UT 25, ¶¶29-30, 979 P.2d 332 (citations omitted). City councils must follow their own procedural ordinances in the context of rezoning. *Gardner v. Perry City*, 2000 UT App 1, ¶¶15-18, 994 P.2d 811.

**A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE CITY TO
DISREGARD ITS OWN PROCEDURAL ORDINANCE**

As permitted by § 10-3-606, Utah Code, the City adopted Robert’s Rules of Order to govern its procedure. § 2.08.030, SMC, provided⁶:

Rules of Procedure: Except as otherwise specifically required or provided by law, this chapter, or by resolution of the governing body, the most current edition of “Robert’s Rules of Order” shall govern the procedure and conduct of the meetings of the governing body.

Roberts Rules of Order Newly Revised, 10th Edition, *see* F 18, (“Roberts Rules” or “RR”) was therefore binding upon the City, in all cases:

When a society or an assembly has adopted a particularly parliamentary manual – such as this book – as its authority, the rules contained in that manual are binding upon it in all cases where they are not inconsistent with the bylaws (or constitution) or any special rules of order of the body, or any provision of local, state, or national law applying to the particular type of organization.

RR § 2; F 20.

The trial court expressly accepted the City’s argument that Roberts Rules “are not to be considered elevated to the level of Ordinance.” R. 600. The court minimized the significance of the City’s rules of procedure by imagining that the purpose for their adoption was limited “to facilitate the order of [the governing body’s] meetings.” *Id.* The court concluded, therefore, that Roberts Rules “are not in themselves Ordinances.” *Id.*

⁶ Later in 2006, the City replaced § 2.08.030 with the following ordinance (06-15):

Rules of Procedure: Except as otherwise specifically required or provided by law, this chapter, or by resolution, the governing body may establish rules that govern the procedure and conduct of the meetings of the governing body.

The trial court's disregard of Roberts Rules contravenes well-established rules of construction of city ordinances. If the "plain language" of the ordinance is unambiguous, other methods of interpretation are unnecessary. *M&S Cox Investments, LLC v. Provo City Corp.*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 27 (Sept. 27, 2007). In the case at bar there is no ambiguity in the ordinances or in the rules that are clearly incorporated therein by reference. The court below did not identify any ambiguities. The skirting of Roberts Rules by the trial court was erroneous.

The justification offered by the City for disregard of its procedures was that they had been routinely ignored through the years, and that an informal system of ad hoc procedures developed within the City. R 501-25. Several affidavits were offered to this effect, including one by the City's manager, tracing the passing by of Roberts Rules back twenty-three years, and accusing Gittins, formerly a City council member, of being a party to the "informal" rules. R 519-20. This testimony was countered by the affidavits of two former mayors and Gittins in which adherence to Roberts Rules as the City's governing procedure was confirmed. R 547-52. Although the trial court ruled out contested material issues of fact, it acknowledged that some issues were contested, but downplayed their importance.

There are no material issues of fact which are in dispute, but minor issues and construction or interpretation of actions taken or things said, may be considered differently.

R. 600. Where the district court relied on the City's informal rules, it was error to do so at the summary judgment stage, Gittins having supplied contesting evidence.

B. THE ORIGINAL REZONE WAS NOT SUBJECT TO RECONSIDERATION

The City claimed that the first rezone of January 25, 2006 was “brought back to the city council for reconsideration” two weeks later. F 89-91. The City’s own characterizations of the action on February 8th included “again reviewed” F.91, “exactly the same” F 90, and “present again for consideration” F 95.

Reconsideration of the January 25th rezone decision was prohibited by law.

To protect against abuse, a motion to reconsider has unique characteristics:

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