2007

Jeffery R. Gittins v. Smithfiled City : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT HAS NOT APPEALED FROM A FINAL ORDER AND THUS THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has held that “in the interest of judicial economy, a trial court must determine the amount of attorney fees awardable to a party before the judgment becomes final for the purposes of an appeal.” *ProMax Development Corp. v. Raile*, 998 P.2d 254, 258 (Utah 2000). The Utah Supreme Court’s reasoning for following such a rule is based on judicial efficiency and is explained as follows:

“It will save the resources of the parties and this court if the issue of attorney fees can be determined in the same appeal in which the merits of the underlying judgment are examined. Otherwise, a second appeal must be taken to challenge the amount of attorney fees awarded subsequent to the judgment on the merits and then examined in light of the judgment on the merits.” *Id.*

In *Sittner v. Schriever*, the trial court granted summary judgment in respondents' favor on March 25, but waited until June 27 to sign a supplemental judgment concerning a stipulated fee award. *Sittner v. Schriever*, 2 P.3d 442, 443 (Utah 2000). The Utah Supreme Court determined the 30 day period to file an appeal began not after the March 25 judgment, as the court of appeals ruled, but after the June 27 judgment when the attorney fees were fixed. *Id.* Only after the attorney fees were fixed was the judgment final and ready for appeal. *Id.* at 446.

In a case very similar to the one at issue, the Utah Court of Appeals dismissed an appeal due to lack of jurisdiction because the attorney fees had not been resolved at the trial court level. *Turville v. J&J Props. L.C.*, 2004 UT App 389 (Utah Ct. App. 2004). In *Turville*, it was determined that the Notice of Appeal filed by Appellant was premature because the trial court judgment, upon which the Appellant based his appeal, did not resolve the issue of attorney fees and, thus, was not final or appealable. *Id.* Appellee's motion for summary dismissal on the basis of lack of jurisdiction was granted and the court of appeals dismissed the appeal. *Id.* Additionally, attorney fees were awarded to Appellee to the extent they were incurred in filing the motion for summary disposition. *Id.*

Declaratory Judgment was entered in the present action on March 27, 2007. This judgment did not address the pending issue of attorney fees and costs. The Order for Payment of Attorney's Fees and Costs to Defendant was entered on April 4, 2007. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal on the Declaratory Judgment on March 28, 2007. The Notice of Appeal was premature. No amended notice of appeal has been filed. No timely

notice of appeal has been filed. No motions as described under Rule 4(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure have been filed.

Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure allows appellate jurisdiction from all “final orders and judgments” of the district court. Where an appeal is taken as a matter of right from the final decision of the trial court, the notice of appeal must be filed with the clerk of the trial court within 30 days after the entry of the final judgment or order. (See Rule 4(a) Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Emphasis added.).

The most recent pronouncement on this issue is the Utah Supreme Court decision in *Beddoes v Giffin*, 158 P.3d 1102. Speaking of the jurisdictional requirement of Rule 3(a) the Supreme Court said:

This “final judgment rule” “prevents a party from prematurely appealing a non-final judgment and thereby preserves scarce judicial resources.”

Then referencing the decision of *ProMax Development Corp v. Raile* the court said:

As we explained in *ProMax*, disputes as to attorney fees must be resolved in order to have final judgment for appeal, but disputes as to court costs need not.

As provided under the aforementioned rules and case law, matters involving an award of attorney fees are not appealable until the amount of attorney fees to be awarded has judicially been determined and ordered. Because the Declaratory Judgment of March 27, 2007 is not a final adjudication of all matters of the case, the Notice of Appeal was untimely and the appeal must be dismissed.

II. CITY ORDINANCE 06-01 IS VALID AND LEGAL

Utah Code Section 10-9a-801 governs the District Court's review of the adoption of City Ordinance 06-01. Section 10-9a-801 (3) (a) through (d) is particularly relevant to the question of the action taken by the Smithfield City Council at its regular meeting held on Wednesday, February 8, 2006. (See City Minutes February 8, 2006.) A review of subsection (3) reveals that "the Court shall: presume that a decision, ordinance, or regulation made under the authority of this Chapter is valid; and determine only whether or not, the decision, ordinance or regulation is arbitrary, capricious or illegal." That subsection goes on to say that "a[n]... ordinance... involving the exercise of legislative discretion is valid if the... ordinance... is reasonably debatable and not illegal." It further states that "a final decision of a land use authority... is valid if the decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record and is not arbitrary, capricious or illegal." Finally, it states, "a determination of illegality requires a determination that the... ordinance... violates a law, statute or ordinance in effect at the time [that] the decision was made or the ordinance or regulation [which was] adopted."

As required by 10-9a-801(7) the land use authority, Smithfield City, transmitted to the District Court the record of its proceedings, including its Minutes, Findings, Orders, and, if available, a true and correct transcript of its proceedings.

Section 10-9a-801 (8) provides that if there is a record...

"the District Court's review is limited to the record provided by the land use authority,.... The Court may not accept or consider any evidence outside the record of the land use authority unless the evidence was offered to the land use authority or the appeal authority, respectively, and this Court determines that it was improperly excluded. If there is no record, the Court may call witnesses and

take evidence.”

Utah Code Sections 10-3-506 and 10-3-508 are also instructive. As stated previously, subsection 506 provides that before a vote is taken to adopt a municipal ordinance the ordinance must be in writing. Because the amended motion which was approved at the January 25, 2006 Council meeting was to adopt an ordinance which was not in writing and thus not before the Council, it was not legal. And significantly, it would of necessity have had to have been considered again when the ordinance was written. That opportunity came on February 8, 2006. But at that meeting, instead of voting on and adopting one of four proposed draft ordinances which were intended to codify the amended motion made in the previous meeting, the Council elected to adopt the original written ordinance 06-01. This was not a “reconsideration” in the sense of changing an ordinance which had been previously and legally adopted, but rather was a legitimate and authorized continuation of the legislative process of the governing body to adopt, in the first instance, an ordinance. Nevertheless, Section 10-3-508, by implication, allows reconsideration:

“Any action taken by the governing body shall not be reconsidered or rescinded at a special meeting unless the number of members of the governing body present at the special meeting is equal to or greater than the number of members present at the meeting when the action was approved.”

Now admittedly, the subject re-zone ordinance was not reconsidered at a special meeting. It was adopted at a regular and duly noticed meeting for that purpose. But, state law allows reconsideration of ordinances. The flaw in Appellant’s argument is that no

ordinance was adopted in the January 25, 2006, meeting. The subject ordinance was adopted on February 8, 2006.

The case of *Patterson v. Alpine City*, 663 P.2d 95, 96 (Utah 1983) provides legal support for this provision of the law. Referencing section 10-3-506, the Court stated, “the language of the above statute requiring that all resolutions shall be in writing is mandatory”. The case dealt with the imposition of a sewer connection fee which was not established by resolution or ordinance in writing. Thus, the District Court in that case did not err in concluding that the sewer connection fee was not established as required by law and therefore invalid. Section 10-3-506 of the Utah Code, in the last sentence thereof, provided then as it does now, “Every resolution or ordinance shall be in writing before the vote is taken”.

With this requirement in mind, and the record which has been presented to the Court, it is abundantly clear that the only written ordinance before the City Council at the meeting on January 25, 2006, was an ordinance that provided for the rezone to residential of the entire parcel that was proposed for rezoning. After a motion was made to adopt said ordinance, Council member Monson requested an Amendment, which was accepted and voted upon, but there was no written ordinance before the City Council which contained the legal description for the area to be rezoned under the Amended Motion. Several actions are suggested by the Petitioner that might have been done to provide a written ordinance for the City Council to review, before the vote was taken. However, the meeting was held at the City’s Senior Citizen’s Center, where access to a computer and similar items was not available. The fact is that a written ordinance was not before

the members of the City Council before the vote was taken on the January 25, 2006 action. As stated above and in *Patterson*, having the ordinance in writing is mandatory. In that case, the failure to have the resolution in writing caused it to be invalid. The failure to have an ordinance in writing before the City Council before a vote was taken means that the attempt to adopt an ordinance on January 25, 2006, was legally insufficient and failed.

Therefore, the next appropriate step was to make sure that a written ordinance was prepared and before the City Council in order for a vote to be taken. This occurred in a properly noticed meeting on February 8, 2006. Once proper notice has been given and necessary public hearings have been held by both the Planning Commission and the City Council, neither State nor City law requires that an ordinance adopting the proposed rezone be adopted within any set period of time after the last public hearing. It was legal and proper to place this item on the agenda for the next Council meeting, have an ordinance in writing for consideration by the City Council and then seek a vote. The property considered for rezone at the February 8, 2006 meeting was exactly the same as had been considered by the Planning Commission, by the City Council and by the public at two public hearings. The minutes from both meetings and the public hearings clearly indicate that all concerns that had been raised were properly considered and that the same concerns were discussed as a part of considering the ordinances presented at the February 8, 2006 meeting. In fact, the Petitioner was aware of the action to be taken at the February 8, 2006 meeting and called to discuss this with at least the City Manager and requested that the City Manager raise his concerns at said meeting, which the Manager

did. (Affidavit Jim Gass January 19, 2007.) The concerns of the public at the two public hearings and of City officials at the Planning Commission meeting and two City Council meetings were thoroughly raised and discussed. Nothing more could be gained by holding another public hearing and another public hearing was not required. The requirements of Section 10-9a-503 of the Utah Code had been met by holding the two public hearings before a zoning amendment was adopted and the Planning Commission had given its recommendation. The City Code regarding such an amendment Section 17.08.040 SMC, had been complied with.

The action taken at the February 8, 2006 meeting was not a boundary clarification subject to review by the Board of Adjustment/Appeal Authority, nor was it a “formality cure”. It was a proper original action taken in compliance with the requirements of State and Municipal law to rezone real property. It is interesting that the Petitioner is very rigid in stating that Smithfield City must comply with the Robert’s Rules of Order, when the Supreme Court has granted latitude in this regard. At the same time, the Petitioner is fairly lax in what he would apparently require with respect to having an ordinance in writing before a vote is taken, when the Supreme Court has been very definite in saying there is no latitude to be granted on this issue.

III. APPELLANT HAS NOT BEEN PREJUDICED BY THE CITY’S ACTION

The Appellant suggests that if the City can change its action whenever a majority chooses, what will prevent regular abuse of the legislative process? Appellant, however, ignores the reality of the City’s action. No ordinance was legally adopted on January 25,

2006. Indeed, the only relevant ordinance adopted by the City was on February 8, 2006. State law and City regulations clearly provide that an ordinance is adopted only after required notice and then is in writing, passes by a majority vote, and is signed by the authorized officers of the City. The only ordinance which passes these requirements is City Ordinance No. 06-01 adopted February 8, 2006.

The burden of showing prejudice rests properly with the one making such a claim. (See *Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville*; see also *Gardner v. Perry City*, referenced in Appellant's Brief, citations omitted.) Moreover, Code Section 10-9a-801(8) (a) precludes taking of evidence if a record of the challenged proceedings is provided, as was the case here. The trial court found that Appellant was not prejudiced by the February 8, 2006 adoption of Ordinance 06-01.

CONCLUSION


Not only does City Ordinance 06-01 enjoy a presumption of validity, it was adopted conclusively by legal and proper means. The requirements for review by the District Court have been met. The validity of the ordinance was upheld. The Appellant prematurely appealed and thus jurisdiction is non existent for this court to consider the matter further.

Appellant respectfully requests this court to dismiss the appeal. Alternatively this court is requested to affirm the ruling of the trial court.